IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-1346 District Court of Appeal, Third District Case No. 3D00-1718

CARIDAD SANCHEZ, individually, ILEEN SANCHEZ, her daughter and GEORGE A. SANCHEZ, her son, Appellants/Petitioners,

vs.

DADE COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD,

a political subdivision of the State of Florida, Appellee(s)/Respondent(s).

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

C. Statement of the Case

Caridad Sanchez sued the School Board for negligence in failing to detect and provide security against a trespasser. RI-1-19. The trial court denied the School Board's motion to dismiss on July 14, 1999. RI-49, RI-26-28. The School Board answered and asserted various affirmative defenses, including the Workers'

¹ The record indexing of Plaintiff's numerous "mini-depositions", with multiple depositions pages reduced onto each indexed page, is unclear and cumbersome for the Court. Plaintiff's multiple depositions on one mini-deposition page were indexed in the record as one page. The factual record in this case is extensive. So, in the interest of accuracy and ease of judicial review, Appellant uses the following record cites coupled with more intuitive record cites so that citations can be easily confirmed.

R_-___ <u>at</u> ____, refers to the record on appeal and volume numberfirst page of the cited mini-deposition-name of deponent <u>at</u> the actual deposition page number. <u>_____</u> <u>Exh.</u> refers to the respective deposition exhibit and at actual exhibit page number. <u>Laing App.</u> <u>_____</u> at <u>____</u> refers to the *Dade County School Board v. Laing*, 731 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), appendix carried with this appeal, by volume and page number within that volume.

All facts and their inferences are properly presented in the light most favorable to Caridad Sanchez, as the non-moving party on the summary judgment below, with all controverted facts highlighted as well.

Compensation immunity under § 440.11, Fla. Stat. (1998 Supp.). The trial court grant summary judgment to the Dade County School Board on the § 440.11(1) "unrelated works" exception and Workers' Compensation immunity, citing Dade County School Board v. Laing, 731 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). I.B. at 1-2; RVIII-1434-35. Ms. Sanchez appealed and moved for judicial notice of the Third Districts' own *Laing* record, which motion and *Laing* appendix were carried with Sanchez's appeal. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed per curiam the summary judgment in favor of the Dade County School Board on March 28, 2001, and denied Appellant/Petitioner's "Motion for Rehearing/Rehearing en banc, Clarification, and Certification" on May 30, 2001. Ms. Sanchez timely filed Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on June 13, 2001, and served her Petition for Discretionary Review on June 23, 2001, timely filed on June 25, 2001, to which Respondent timely responded. On April 25 and April 30, 2002, respectively, the Court lifted the stay of these proceedings and accepted jurisdiction.

B. Statement of the Facts

1. A Known Trespasser Attacks Sanchez at School During Lunch.

On February 11, 1998, Caridad Sanchez returned to her School around 12 p.m. after taking a personal half-day. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 40-41. Classes and lunch periods were both ongoing then. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 53.

She parked her Ford Explorer in her usual spot, exited, walked to the other side, opened the front passenger door to remove two teachers' lunches and flowers to take to the teacher's lounge, and then a roughly twenty-year-old male in a very white T-shirt and dark shorts quickly approached her from the School's interior. RVII-1255Pl. Depo. at 42-46, 53, 61.

Two teachers, Tania Cruz and Barbara Phelps, told Sanchez that this attacker had been seen trespassing several days before. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 82-84, 105-06. Twice on the morning of this attack School security had been notified by at least two other teachers that a threatening trespasser in his twenties was on school property; in particular, one teacher earlier saw this trespasser in this lot where Sanchez was attacked. RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 30-35, RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 16-18, 27, RVII-1386-Cubberly Depo. at 5-7 & Pl. Exh. "1", RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 61-62, 88-90, 95, 98-99, 105, RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 40-41, 45-47, 55-57, RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 21.

Before lunch that day, Security Monitor Juan Perez asked the West Miami Middle School then-Assistant Administrator Adolfo Costa for permission to close the gate to that faculty lot, to which Costa responded "no" because of inconvenience. RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 27-28, RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 35-37. Costa had directed two School security officers to inspect this lot at alternating ten to fifteen minute intervals during that day's lunch periods. RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 30-35, RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 16-18, 27, RVII-1386-Cubberly Depo. at 5-7 & Pl. Exh. "1", RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 61-62, 88-90, 95, 98-99, 105, RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 40-41, 45-47, 55-57, RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 21.

School Maintenance employee, Nick Hernandez, testified he returned from lunch, saw the attacker's bicycle parked near the lot, entered the lot to look for the attacker, saw the attacker atop Sanchez, and then ran after the attacker. RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 22-23, 24-25, RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 52. Nick Hernandez testified he too saw no security personnel near that lot when he arrived. RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 24.

Costa admitted he could not prove the Security Monitors had actually inspected that day. RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 48. The attacker had ample time to (1) grab and threaten to kill Sanchez if she screamed or fought his sexual assault, (2) place Sanchez in a headlock, (3) choke her, (4) then throw Sanchez to the ground, (5) pull up her sweater, (6) cover her face, (7) for Sanchez to fight the attacker off and grab his testicles, (8) for the attacker to then chase Sanchez down the lot after she got up and resumed running, (9) for the attacker to, then, tackle Sanchez by her left ankle and pull her down again, (10) for the attacker to repeatedly kick and punch Sanchez "everywhere", including her breasts, face and head, (11) for Sanchez to throw her car keys away in the lot, (12) for the attacker to find Sanchez's car keys that she threw in the lot, (13) for the attacker to begin forcing Sanchez toward the backseat of her Explorer as she lay flat on the ground to continually resist his moving her, and (14) for the attacker to resume pulling Sanchez by the hair, kicking her in the face and choking her. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 56, 58-65. The Security Monitors ordered to inspect this lot had noticed none of this.

After Ms. Sanchez screamed for help and fell back to the ground, RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 67-68, one of the Security Monitors, Juan Perez, near the band room next to the parking lot, heard screaming from the parking lot, went to the lot, looked at Sanchez, turned and then radioed the office for rescue. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 68-70, RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 34. That was the first time that Sanchez saw Juan Perez that day. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 70. While Juan Perez testified he stayed with Sanchez until Nick Hernandez arrived, Sanchez testified he did not come near her, instead disappearing after he saw her. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 68-70, RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 34.

During lunch, Security was ordinarily not in the west parking lot where Sanchez was attacked. RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 28. Security Monitor Juan Perez was not assigned to that lot. RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 22. And he thought someone should have been there. RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 22.

Rather, Security Monitors Juan Perez and Jose Perez had been assigned that day to the spill-out area some fifteen to twenty yards away. Juan Perez at 21-28, RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 20. The spill-out area was not readily visible to the parking lot where Sanchez was attacked. RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 28, RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 20. Security Monitors Martica and Julia had been assigned that day to the cafeteria. Juan Perez at 21-28, RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 20.

Sanchez's attack was next to Raul Guerrero's classroom, where he was beginning a class and where Nick Hernandez had specifically seen the attacker earlier that day. RVII-1346-Depo. at 36, RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 16-18, RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 39.

After Nick Hernandez's arrival, the attacker ran into the school. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 78-79. While Security Monitor Jose Perez testified he pursued the attacker through the School, RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 24-25, RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 82, Hernandez testified he ran around the perimeter of the School, and saw the attacker walking inside the school–several steps in front of one of the Security Monitors talking on his radio. RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 24-25. Nick Hernandez and Security Monitor Jose Perez later confronted the attacker, the attacker resumed running, and Security Monitor Jose Perez pursued him from inside the school into the streets.

RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 24-25, RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 24-25, RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 53.

Nick Hernandez ran back to Sanchez, lifted her from the gravel lot, and placed her on the grass, while the administration and teachers arrived. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 70-72, RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 21-23, 25-26. Sanchez was badly beaten. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 70-74, RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 35. She was covered in blood, bruised, swollen, and ultimately hospitalized. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 70-74, RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 35.

Costa testified he got a 315 radio call from Security Monitor Jose Perez identifying a "double emergency", RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 33-34, and ran from the cafeteria to the parking lot. RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 35. Nick Hernandez asked the principal for permission to allow the Security Monitor to accompany him to locate the attacker, which the principal denied. RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 26-27.

2. These Particular West Miami Middle School Co-Employees Are Primarily Assigned to Unrelated Works.

a. The Zone Mechanic Is Primarily Assigned to Repairs, Not Security or Education.

Nick Hernandez, then an eleven-year School Board employee and zone mechanic at West Miami Middle School, agreed that "his primary assignment has nothing to do with the education of the students". RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 8-

11, 14. He had neither security nor education-related responsibilities. RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 8-11, 14.

He reported to the "maintenance satellite", not the principal, and the principal has no supervisory authority over him. RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 12-13. Any safety issues concerning him were "in relation to the building or the structure or. . .the maintenance." RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 33. And his "only relationship" with a teacher was in "repair[ing] things and mak[ing] their work environment a little bit better." RVII-1319-Hernandez Depo. at 15-16.

b. West Miami Middle School Teachers Are Primarily Assigned to Education, Not Security.

Teachers are instructional staff. RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 42. Raul Guerrero, a teacher for twenty-four years for the School Board and at West Miami Middle School for eight years, agreed that:

primary assignments as a teacher at West Miami Middle School are instructional. RVII-1346-Depo. at 15-16, 5, 9.

West Miami Middle School Principle, Marcos Moran, also admitted the

teacher's primary assignment are:

to educate and teach the students pursuant to the curriculum. RIV-790-Moran Depo. at 57-58. [A]s a teacher you are assigned *primarily to educating and teaching* the children [with] *security* [only] *incidental* to the education and the teaching of the children. RVI-1231-Costa Depo. Depo. at 18 (emphasis added). Then-Assistant Administrator Costa also confirmed this:

- Q. But as a teacher you are assigned primarily to educating and teaching the children?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And whatever "security" quote, unquote, <u>security you would perform or</u> <u>safety you would perform, would only be incidental to the education</u> <u>and the teaching of the children</u>?
- A. <u>*Correct.*</u> RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 18 (emphasis added).

Security Monitor Jose Perez agreed:

- Q. And it is your understanding that <u>the job as a teacher is to educate</u> the students.
- A. That is *correct*. RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 14 (emphasis added).

Teachers and administrative assistants were not trained in security and the extent of their "security" efforts were "to provide an orderly dismissal" and supervising conduct "in the classroom". RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 11-12, 16, RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 64.

Teacher Raul Guerrero also could recall no memos to teachers specifically addressing "security". RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 38. Likewise, the State of Florida curriculum guidelines for teachers "contain[ed] no specific reference to the security of the school or the premises". RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 17. The "safe learning environment" referenced in curriculum guidelines for teachers referred to "the classroom". RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 18.²

As to teachers' security responsibilities outside their classrooms, those were limited to standing outside their respective rooms after every single period "[t]o make sure everything is okay, and that there is visibility of teachers [and] supervision." RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 33, RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 40-41.

Additionally, the Dade County Public Schools Procedures for Promoting a Safe Learning Environment, by Principal Moran's own admission, nowhere mentioned teachers or suggested teacher-involvement in confronting unauthorized persons on campus. RIV-790-Moran Depo. at 73-78, 80 & Pl. Exh. "2" at 3, 21-22. Indeed, teachers were not to confront trespassers or remove them from School premises; they were to notify School Administration, Law Enforcement or a School Monitor if they saw trespassers. RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 25-26, 29, RIV-790-Moran Depo. at 84, 128-29; Juan Perez Depo. at 19-20. Principal Marcos Moran admitted the School:

do[es]n't want teachers to attempt to handle a situation that may be a dangerous situation with a trespasser, no. RIV-790-Moran Depo. at 51-52.

²

Q. And I believe you testified to this earlier. . .*the only security or safety that the teachers would provide* would be because of the necessity or a school or a school resource officer not being present?

A. In *the classroom*, yes. RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 26-27 (emphasis added).

c. West Miami Middle School Monitors Are Primarily Assigned to School Security and Are Primarily Physically Separate.

Security monitors and teachers shared none of the same assignments, objectives or services. RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 30, 36. Security Monitors and Law Enforcement School Board Officers comprised School "security staff" and they:

(1) did not instruct staff,

(2) did not attend education workshops to assist teachers, and

(3) "<u>d[id] not assist the teachers at all with the education process in the</u>

classroom". RVII-1346-Guerrero Depo. at 42-43 (emphasis added), RVI-1231-

Costa Depo. at 26, 63, RIV-790-Moran Depo. at 69-71.

Principal Moran admitted Security Monitors "*[we]re not there to educate the children*. No, they're not". RIV-790-Moran Depo. at 52-53 (emphasis added). Rather, the School security was assigned "primarily for school safety and school security". RVI-1231-Costa Depo. at 13, 16, RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 21.

Security Monitor Jose Perez yet further crystallized the differences in primary assignments of security personnel versus teachers:

Q. You don't work as a teacher?

A. No.

Q. Do you provide any education-related services?

- A. Not to the school.
- Q. Would it be fair to say that your primary assignment at the school consists of patrolling the school to make sure that there are no trespassers, that kids are going to class and there is no vandalism?
- A. Right. No disruptions or anything like that. RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 14.

Security Monitor Juan Perez removed any uncertainty in the unrelatedness of

security's primary assignments versus teachers' primary assignments:

- Q. Are you providing security so that there's no damage to the premises, the school?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you provide any supervision in any classes?
- A. No, I don't.
- Q. Do you supervise the instruction or education of the students in any manner?
- A. No, I don't.
- Q. <u>Do you get involved in the teaching of the students at all</u>?
- A. <u>No</u>.
- Q. <u>Are you involved in education related services</u>?
- A. <u>No</u>.
- Q. So, it would be fair to say <u>your primary assignment as security monitor</u> is for the <u>protection of the students and the property</u>?

- A. And the school.
- Q. And the faculty?
- A. And the faculty. RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 16 (emphasis added).

As to the physical separateness between teachers and security, School Security personnel were "usually downstairs in the [main] parking lot." RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 33. They also "supervise[d] the cafeteria" and the spill-out and bus areas on the School's periphery. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 36, RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 21-28, RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 20.

Q. The security staff that you identified, do they also walk the hallways?

- A. When?
- Q. At any time.
- A. Barely.
- Q. What do they do?
- A. They are usually downstairs in the parking lot. R-VII-Sanchez Depo. at 33.

School Monitor Jose Perez confirmed this: "I am assigned [t]o what they call the spill-out area" during lunch-time. . . about 15, 20 yards" from where Caridad Sanchez was attacked. RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 20. His "first post is the spillout area and the basketball court", then checking the halls and restrooms "to make sure that we have all the students in class and no trespassers" after the bell rings, then the 400 wing, the trailer section and the portable section, then he is assigned to the spill-out area during lunch time, then he returns to his earlier assigned areas, and then his assigned area at the end of the day is the private bus field. RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 14-15, 17. Patrolling classrooms is not one of those primary assignments.

Indeed, School security personnel are "usually downstairs in the [main] parking lot." RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 33. They also "supervise the cafeteria" and the spill-out and bus areas on the School's periphery. RVII-1255-Pl. Depo. at 36, RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 21-28, RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 20.

The responsibility for patrolling faculty parking lots and confronting trespassers was primarily assigned to School Security Monitors and Law Enforcement, not Teachers. RIV-790-Moran Depo. at 73-78, 80; RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 20.³ Security Monitor Juan Perez explained:

Q. Have you ever seen any teachers assisting in the removal or stopping of trespassers?

³ See also Moran Depo, Pl. Comp. Exh. "1", Secondary School Teacher Job Description & Basic Objectives ("This is a professional position responsible for the instruction of one or more subjects to secondary school students"), School Monitor Job Description & Basic Objectives (Under general direction from the school principal, he/she performs <u>duties to monitor student</u> <u>activity</u> in promoting and maintaining a safe learning environment"), School Resource Specialist & Basic Objectives ("This is <u>school security work</u> assisting school administrators in creating and maintaining a safe and secure environment. . . .Work is performed under the general supervision of the Region Captain and according to the standard methods, practices and procedures").

- A. No. RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 20.Juan Perez further explained their divisions:
- Q. Are you providing security so that there's no damage to the premises, the school?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you provide any supervision in any classes?
- A. No, I don't.
- Q. Do you supervise the instruction or education of the students in any manner?
- A. No, I don't.
- Q. Do you get involved in the teaching of the students at all?
- A. No, I don't.
- Q. <u>Are you involved in any education related services</u>?
- A. <u>No</u>.
- Q. So, would it be fair to say <u>your primary assignment as security monitor is for</u> <u>the protection of the students and the property</u>?
- A. And *the school*.
- Q. And the faculty?
- A. And *the faculty*. RVII-1281-Juan Perez Depo. at 16-17 (emphasis added).

West Miami Dade Middle School Security Monitor Jose Perez agreed. RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 13.

- Q. [Y]our primary assignment as a security monitor is to patrol, to make sure the kids are in classes, no vandalism, no disruptions and keep trespassers out?
- A. That is *correct*.
- Q. And it is your understanding that *the job as a teacher is to educate* the students.
- A. That is *correct*. RVII-1333-Jose Perez Depo. at 14 (emphasis added).

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