IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: SC01-1346

3D DCA CASE NO. 3D00-1718

CARIDAD SANCHEZ, individually, ILEEN SANCHEZ, her daughter and GEORGE A. SANCHEZ, HER SON,

Petitioners,

vs.

DADE COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Jeffrey A. Mowers, Esq. Cindy J. Mishcon, Esq. PYSZKA, BLACKMON, LEVY, MOWERS & KELLEY Attorneys for Respondent Miami Lakes Corporate Center 14750 Northwest 77th Court, Suite 300 Miami Lakes, Florida 33016 (305) 512-3737 Fla. Bar. No. 508240 Fla. Bar. No. 0829579

#

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

[A]ppellant cites no case nor law which would support his position that an obstetrical nurse who works regularly, albeit on a part-time basis in another department providing health care, is engaged in work unrelated to that of the hospital supervisor, the departmental supervisor, or the operator of the machine which is utilized to provide care for the patient whom the nurse is attending.

.

In the instant case, while there were conclusory allegations that the coemployees were engaged in unrelated works, the alleged facts do not support this conclusion. At the time of the injury to the deceased, she was engaged in activity related to her primary assignment, the provision of health care to a patient. (The complaint clearly alleges that nurses are routinely in the chamber "to administer medicine or provide other necessary assistance to the patient"). The fact that the decedent was assigned to a different department or that she was using a specialized piece of medical equipment should not serve to undermine the broad workers' compensation immunity provided in section 440.11(1), Florida Statutes.

The operator of the hyperbaric chamber and Nurse Vause had a similar relationship as the welder and the

laborer in Johnson, supra: They were both involved in unrelated the same project (rather than an project)--the care of one particular patient. The director of the chamber was also involved in the same project. Furthermore, the appellant fails to explain how the administrator of the entire hospital could be involved in works unrelated to a nurse who works in Each individual defendant was that same hospital. assigned to duties related to the purpose and function of decedent's job: The provision of health care to patients of the medical center. The facts alleged in the complaint establish this relationship. The trial court, therefore, could have correctly dismissed the complaint against BMC because the court could have found that the employees were not engaged in unrelated works.

Vause at 262-263.

With respect to Vause, Sanchez states that "[a]gain, there is nothing in the four corners of that decision suggesting the court had before it evidence of unrelated primary assignments. Indeed, Vause was decided not by summary judgment, but on a motion to dismiss with prejudice . . . Since there was no factual record before reaching the appellate level Vause is neither procedurally [n]or factually on point." See Initial Brief at 32.

Sanchez's suggestion that the Vause court had no evidence of unrelated primary assignments before it is simply not true as the allegations in the Complaint surely constituted evidence in the context of a Motion to Dismiss. In fact, the plaintiff's own allegations were the only evidence that the trial court

-39-

could have properly considered in ruling on the plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss, and the plaintiff's Complaint contained a detailed description of the parties' alleged respective assignments. The court had no choice but to accept those allegations as true. The court did so and simply concluded that, even if the nurse was assigned primarily to full-time duties in the Obstetric Department and worked only part-time as an on-call nurse in the Hyperbaric Department, and even if the Obstetric Department was unrelated to the Hyperbaric Medicine Department, as alleged in the Complaint, then the nurse and individual defendants still were not "assigned primarily to unrelated works" because all were involved in the same project of providing health care services to patients at the hospital.<sup>14</sup>

### State, Dept. of Corrections v. Koch

State, Dept. of Corrections v. Koch, 582 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), is one case where the court ruled that workers' compensation immunity did not bar an employee's claim because the employee and co-employee who injured him were "assigned primarily to unrelated works." In Koch, an employee of the Florida Department of Corrections picked up a truck at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> As to Vause, Sanchez also suggests that the court might have decided Vause differently had it had the legislative history before it. The School Board has already expressed its disagreement with that argument several times herein.

Florida Department of Transportation's maintenance yard to transport inmates who were working on state roads pursuant to a contract between the DOT and DOC. As the DOC employee was driving out of the DOT maintenance yard, he fatally struck the plaintiff, who was a DOT employee on his way to work. The court concluded that the DOT and DOC employees were assigned primarily to unrelated works, and therefore, workers' compensation immunity did not bar the action.

The School Board does not contend that *Koch* was wrongly decided. In fact, the School Board contends that *Koch* provides the perfect example of a situation where the "unrelated works" exception was meant to apply.<sup>15</sup> Clearly, although the two employees in *Koch* were both employed by the State of Florida, one employee was assigned primarily to tasks encompassed within the purpose of the DOT and the other employee was assigned primarily to tasks encompassed for the DOC. Thus, in the true sense of the word, the two employees were "assigned primarily to unrelated works." This is in sharp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Sanchez suggests at page 44 of her Initial Brief that the School Board disagrees with the holding in *Koch*. Sanchez is wrong in her contention. However, although the School board does not contend that *Koch* was wrongly decided, it is still important to note that neither party in *Koch* disputed that the DOT employee and the DOC employee were coemployees "assigned primarily to unrelated works." *Koch* at 7. Therefore, *Koch* is of little precedential value.

contrast to the case at hand where the involved employees were both assigned to the same political subdivision of the State of Florida, i.e., the School Board, furthermore both were assigned to the same work location and were providing education related services, those services at least in part being related to safety.

#### Lopez v. Vilches

Sanchez cites to *Lopez v. Vilches*, 734 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), as a case applying a different standard to the "unrelated works" exception to fellow-employee immunity. However, Sanchez fails to take any position as to *Lopez's* applicability to this case.

The Lopez court described the facts as "complicated." The scenario involved at least four different related business entities that operated cemeteries and funeral homes. The defendants were responsible for the maintenance of a fleet of vehicles used by those business entities. The plaintiff was employed by one of the funeral homes that was geographically separated from the location where the defendants performed their duties. Part of the plaintiff's duties required that he drive vehicles from the fleet maintained by the defendants. He alleged that one of the vehicles malfunctioned while he was driving it. He alleged that the malfunction was due to

-42-

negligent maintenance by the defendants. The trial court entered a final summary judgment in favor of the defendants, finding that workers' compensation immunity applied. On appeal, the Second District reversed.

Sanchez claims that the court "held that the 'unrelated works' exception did apply to those facts." See Initial Brief Sanchez's representation is inaccurate as the court did at 33. not hold that the plaintiff and defendants were engaged in unrelated works; it simply held that summary judgment was improperly entered because "the pleadings and facts developed through discovery do not foreclose that Lopez and the Defendants were engaged in unrelated works so that workers' compensation would be the exclusive remedy as a matter of law. The physical location of their work appears to be separate and their specific purpose, general funeral home duties versus vehicle maintenance, appear distinct." Lopez at 1097. Based on those facts, the court felt that the issue should be decided by a jury and not as a matter of law. Again, however, the court made no finding on the ultimate issue of whether the two employees were "assigned primarily to unrelated works."

Despite that, *Lopez* does support an affirmance in this case to the extent that it found pertinent the specific division to which each employee was assigned, as opposed to the specific job

-43-

assignments. In that regard, the court stated that "Koch presents something of an analogy to the present case. In our case, Lopez, the injured employee, used a vehicle maintained by an apparently separate division of the same employer, where the allegedly negligent employees worked. In Koch, the DOC employee, the allegedly negligent employee, used a vehicle maintained by a separate division of the State, where the injured employee worked." Lopez at 1097. Thus, to the extent that the phrase "unrelated works" means "separate divisions," the order appealed should still be affirmed because the coemployees in this case were part of the same division at the time of the injury, i.e. they were both employed by the School Board, which is a political subdivision of the State of Florida.

The *Lopez* court also suggests that the physical location of one's work is a factor to consider. To the extent that physical location is a pertinent inquiry, the co-employees here pass that test as both were assigned to and worked out of the same school location.

## School Board of Broward County v. Victorin

Another case on the issue is School Board of Broward County v. Victorin, 767 So.2d 551 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000).<sup>16</sup> In Victorin,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Victorin was decided while this case was on appeal to the Third District.

the plaintiff was a bus driver employed by the Broward County School Board (BCSB). He received injuries when another school bus driver employed by the BCSB drove her school bus into the plaintiff's school bus. The plaintiff and the other school bus driver worked out of different bus depots and had different areas where they dropped off the school children. The plaintiff received workers' compensation benefits, and then filed a negligence suit against the BCSB seeking to hold it vicariously liable for the negligence of the other school bus driver. The BCSB sought summary judgment claiming that workers' compensation immunity barred the action. The trial court denied the motion, and the BCSB appealed. The appellate court reversed because the co-employees were both bus drivers for the BCSB; they both drove buses in Broward County on Interstate 95, and the purpose of both their jobs was to transport school children.

Although Sanchez discusses *Victorin* in her brief, she apparently takes no position as to whether *Victorin* supports a reversal or an affirmance of the order appealed. However, at a minimum, *Victorin* is yet another example of courts interpreting §440.11(1), Fla.Stat., broadly to achieve its intended effect of providing immunity to employers who secure and pay workers' compensation benefits to injured employees.

# Holmes County School Board v. Duffell

-45-

Holmes County School Board v. Duffell, 651 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1995), is another case cited by and relied upon by Sanchez in her brief. In Holmes, a custodian employed by the Holmes County School Board (HCSB) was injured in February, 1990, while assisting in a school bus evacuation drill. During the drill, the custodian was helping students exit a bus through the bus's rear door. Robert Lewis, another employee of HCSB, was driving the bus immediately behind the custodian, and he allowed his bus to roll forward. As a result, the custodian was pinned between the two buses and seriously injured. The Florida Supreme Court ruled that the custodian was entitled to maintain a negligence action against the HCSB to the extent that the custodian was not suing the HCSB in its capacity as an employer, but as a surrogate defendant based upon the negligence of the custodian's co-employee (the school bus driver).

Sanchez suggests in her brief that the Court permitted the employee to sue the HCSB as a surrogate defendant because the two involved employees were "assigned primarily to unrelated works." Sanchez's suggestion is not supported by the Court's decision as the issue before the *Holmes* Court was not whether the two school employees were actually engaged in unrelated works (which is the issue in this case); rather, the sole issue on appeal was the interaction between section (9)(a) of the

-46-

sovereign immunity statute, §768.28, Fla.Stat., and the workers' compensation immunity statute, §440.11(1), Fla.Stat., and more specifically, whether the HCSB, who paid workers' compensation benefits, could be sued in a surrogate capacity for the negligence of a co-employee of the plaintiff.

In fact, the Court expressly stated that "[t]he trial court made a determination that Duffell [the custodian] and Lewis [the school bus driver] were assigned to unrelated works. This determination was not disputed on appeal to the district court, addressed by the district court, or presented in the petition for our review." Holmes at 1177, n. 1 (emphasis added). Thus, the precise issue at hand was not even addressed by the Court in Holmes.<sup>17</sup>

#### Lake v. Ramsay

Lake v. Ramsay, 566 So.2d 845 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), is the case that Sanchez claims expressly and directly conflicts with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Although *Holmes* does not help the Court in deciding the precise issue at hand, the actual holding in *Holmes* will have a huge impact upon public employers in the event the Court now interprets the "unrelated works" exception to fellow-employee immunity in the narrow manner advocated by Sanchez. In fact, workers' compensation immunity will be all but eviscerated as to public employers in Florida because, in virtually every instance that an employee is injured, the employee can point to a coemployee with different job responsibilities whose alleged negligence caused the injury. Per *Holmes*, the public employer will be the defendant in those actions, not the co-employee.

the decision in this case. In *Lake*, the plaintiff sued Sergio Fernandez and others for damages sustained as a result of injuries he received due to the defendants' alleged negligence in the construction of the ceiling of a garage, which collapsed on the plaintiff while he was working on the premises. Fernandez moved for summary judgment on the ground that he was immune from suit under section 440.11, Fla.Stat, as a coemployee at the time of the accident.

The record indicated that the plaintiff was an employee of the builder, and his duties included maintenance and janitorial work. Fernandez was employed by the builder as a construction supervisor and the qualifying agent on this project. In the course of his duties, Fernandez supervised the construction of the ceiling that collapsed and injured the plaintiff. The trial court held, in part, that Fernandez and the plaintiff were coemployees involved in "related work," which would make Fernandez immune from suit. However, the Fourth District reversed finding the issue inappropriate for summary judgment.

Contrary to Sanchez's implication here, the court did NOT reach any decision as to whether workers' compensation immunity would eventually bar the action; it simply held that the evidence presented did not support a summary judgment at that time. In so doing, the court specifically recognized that there

-48-

"may be a vast difference between Fernandez's construction supervision work and Lake's maintenance work." Id at 848. Nevertheless, the court stated that "both types of work could be involved in the same construction job." Id. Thus, it appears that the court simply did not have the necessary evidence before it to ascertain whether the two employees were "assigned primarily to unrelated works."

One fact the court noted might make a difference was the timing of the plaintiff's work on the project. As stated by the court, "we are unable to determine whether [the plaintiff] was working on this job prior to completion of construction, which might affect the 'related work' concept. For example, if the construction was completed before [the plaintiff] became the maintenance man on the property, ..., the interpretation of 'related work' may exclude worker's compensation coverage." *Id*. Due to the lack of evidence, the court remanded for "further proceedings to determine the questions involved in the second point having to do with related work." *Id*.

In that light, *Lake* does not expressly and directly conflict with the decisions of the Third District in this case. The court in *Lake* simply did not have the record evidence it needed to rule on the "unrelated works" exception to workers' compensation immunity, whereas the Third District in this case

-49-

did have the necessary record evidence.

## Palm Beach County v. Kelly

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